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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
FMC Technologies, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income (Unaudited)
(In millions, except per share data)
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenue   $ 560.1  $ 525.4  $1,669.7  $1,491.3 
Costs and expenses:                  

Cost of sales and services    448.5   425.0   1,345.0   1,188.7 
Selling, general and administrative expense    69.6   61.1   211.3   199.4 
Research and development expense    11.1   11.9   32.1   36.0 

         
Total costs and expenses    529.2   498.0   1,588.4   1,424.1 

         
Income before minority interests, net interest expense and income taxes    30.9   27.4   81.3   67.2 
Minority interests    0.1   0.7   0.5   1.7 
Net interest expense    2.2   3.1   6.9   9.8 
         
Income before income taxes    28.6   23.6   73.9   55.7 
Provision for income taxes    8.3   6.8   21.5   16.1 
         
Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    20.3   16.8   52.4   39.6 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes (Note 4)    —     —     —     (193.8)
         
Net income (loss)   $ 20.3  $ 16.8  $ 52.4  $ (154.2)
         
Basic earnings (loss) per share (Note 10):                  

Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 0.31  $ 0.26  $ 0.79  $ 0.61 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     —     —     (2.97)

         
Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ 0.31  $ 0.26  $ 0.79  $ (2.36)

         
Basic weighted average shares outstanding    66.2   65.4   66.0   65.3 
         
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (Note 10):                  

Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 0.30  $ 0.25  $ 0.79  $ 0.59 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     —     —     (2.91)

         
Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ 0.30  $ 0.25  $ 0.79  $ (2.32)

         
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    67.1   66.8   66.8   66.8 
         
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FMC Technologies, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except per share data)
 

   

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

 
   (Unaudited)     
Assets:          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 50.4  $ 32.4 
Trade receivables, net of allowance of $10.5 in 2003 and 2002    466.8   419.2 
Inventories (Note 5)    294.2   273.1 
Due from FMC Corporation, net    —     1.9 
Other current assets    74.8   86.0 

    
Total current assets    886.2   812.6 

Investments    30.2   29.4 
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $394.9 in 2003 and $390.2 in 2002    317.7   306.1 
Goodwill (Note 4)    111.9   83.6 
Intangible assets, net (Note 4)    69.8   36.3 
Other assets    21.4   20.1 
Deferred income taxes    60.7   74.6 
    
Total assets   $ 1,497.9  $ 1,362.7 
    
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:          
Current liabilities:          

Short-term debt (Note 8)   $ 33.2  $ 59.4 
Current portion of long-term debt    —     0.1 
Accounts payable, trade and other    468.1   421.2 
Other current liabilities    206.7   178.8 
Current portion of accrued pension and other postretirement benefits    20.5   21.0 
Income taxes payable    22.2   29.5 
Deferred income taxes    19.9   18.2 

    
Total current liabilities    770.6   728.2 

Long-term debt, less current portion (Note 8)    235.1   175.4 
Accrued pension and other postretirement benefits, less current portion    71.0   76.8 
Reserve for discontinued operations    13.1   18.1 
Other liabilities    38.7   55.8 
Minority interests in consolidated companies    6.2   4.6 
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 12)          
Stockholders’ equity:          

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 12.0 shares authorized; no shares issued in 2003 or 2002    —     —   
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 195.0 shares authorized; 66.4 and 65.6 shares issued in 2003 and 2002;

66.2 and 65.5 shares outstanding in 2003 and 2002    0.7   0.7 
Common stock held in employee benefit trust, at cost, 0.2 and 0.1 shares in 2003 and 2002    (2.9)   (2.5)
Capital in excess of par value of common stock    555.9   543.7 
Unamortized restricted stock compensation    (8.4)   (5.1)
Retained deficit    (35.0)   (87.4)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 9)    (147.1)   (145.6)

    
Total stockholders’ equity    363.2   303.8 

    
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 1,497.9  $ 1,362.7 
    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FMC Technologies, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(In millions)
 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 
Cash provided (required) by operating activities of continuing operations:          

Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 52.4  $ 39.6 
Adjustments to reconcile income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle to cash provided by

operating activities of continuing operations:          
Depreciation    35.2   29.4 
Amortization    6.0   6.1 
Employee benefit plan costs    11.0   7.9 
Deferred income taxes    15.7   11.7 
Other    2.5   2.4 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:          
Trade receivables, net    (40.9)   (26.9)
Inventories    (23.2)   (29.4)
Other current assets and other assets    15.3   6.6 
Accounts payable (including advance payments), other current liabilities and other liabilities    60.5   59.1 
Income taxes payable    (11.5)   (18.3)
Accrued pension and other postretirement benefits, net    (17.4)   (20.4)

    
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations   $ 105.6  $ 67.8 
    
 

(continued)
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FMC Technologies, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) (Continued)
(In millions)
 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations   $ 105.6  $ 67.8 
    
Cash required by discontinued operations    (4.9)   (4.4)
    
Cash provided (required) by investing activities:          

Business acquisition, net of cash acquired (Note 3)    (43.9)   —   
Capital expenditures    (42.9)   (48.3)
Retirement of sale-leaseback obligations (Note 6)    (35.9)   —   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    4.1   3.6 
Increase in investments and assets held for sale    (0.1)   (0.5)

    
Cash required by investing activities    (118.7)   (45.2)
    
Cash provided (required) by financing activities:          

Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt    (26.2)   4.6 
Net increase (decrease) in long-term debt    52.7   (8.7)
Issuances of common stock, net of common stock acquired for employee benefit plan    9.0   1.0 
Payments to FMC Corporation    —     (4.4)

    
Cash provided (required) by financing activities    35.5   (7.5)
    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    0.5   (0.1)
    
Increase in cash and cash equivalents    18.0   10.6 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    32.4   28.0 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 50.4  $ 38.6 
    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:          

Cash paid for interest (net of interest capitalized)   $ 7.6  $ 10.5 
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds received)   $ 17.2  $ 14.7 

Supplemental schedule of non-cash activity          
Common stock issued for restricted stock awards   $ 6.2  $ 6.3 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FMC Technologies, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
Note 1: Basis of Presentation
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FMC Technologies, Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries (“FMC
Technologies” or the “Company”).
 
In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States applicable to interim period financial statements and reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s results of
operations and cash flows for the interim periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, and of its financial position as of September 30, 2003. All such
adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.
 
These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, which are
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the year ended December 31, 2002.
 
The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for full years.
 
Note 2: Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company accounts for stock compensation using the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. Employee compensation cost related to restricted stock grants is recognized ratably
over the vesting period. However, no employee compensation cost related to common stock options is reflected in net income, as each option granted under
the plan had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net
income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share assuming the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to all awards of common stock options:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

     

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

(In millions, except per share data)   

2003

  

2002

     

2003

  

2002

 
Net income (loss), as reported   $ 20.3  $ 16.8     $ 52.4  $ (154.2)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net

income (loss), net of related tax effects    0.5   0.7      1.6   2.6 
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value

based method for all awards, net of related tax effects    (2.2)   (2.0)      (6.4)   (6.6)
         
Pro forma net income (loss)   $ 18.6  $ 15.5     $ 47.6  $ (158.2)
         
Per share data:                     
Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle:                     

Basic—as reported   $ 0.31  $ 0.26     $ 0.79  $ 0.61 
         

Basic—pro forma   $ 0.28  $ 0.24     $ 0.72  $ 0.55 
         

Diluted—as reported   $ 0.30  $ 0.25     $ 0.79  $ 0.59 
         

Diluted—pro forma   $ 0.28  $ 0.23     $ 0.71  $ 0.53 
         
Earnings (loss) per share:                     

Basic—as reported   $ 0.31  $ 0.26     $ 0.79  $ (2.36)
         

Basic—pro forma   $ 0.28  $ 0.24     $ 0.72  $ (2.42)
         

Diluted—as reported   $ 0.30  $ 0.25     $ 0.79  $ (2.32)
         

Diluted—pro forma   $ 0.28  $ 0.23     $ 0.71  $ (2.37)
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In December 2002, SFAS No. 148 was issued to amend the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and
interim period financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results, and
to allow for alternative methods of transition for a change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. The
Company has chosen to continue to account for compensation cost related to common stock options using the recognition and measurement principles of
APB Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations, and has adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148. Implementation of SFAS No. 148 did not have
an impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
 
Note 3: Business Acquisition
 
On August 20, 2003, the Company acquired a 55% ownership interest in CDS Engineering and associated assets (“CDS”) for $49.7 million, and committed to
purchase the remaining 45% ownership interest in CDS in 2009 at a purchase price of approximately 6.5 times the average of CDS’ 2007 and 2008 earnings
before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. Headquartered in the Netherlands, CDS is an industry leader in gas and liquids
separation technology and equipment for both onshore and offshore applications. The Company believes that significant growth potential will be realized
from incorporating CDS’ processing technology and experience with the Company’s broad customer base. In addition, combining the acquired technology of
CDS with the Company’s existing expertise in subsea systems could lead to the development of subsea separation systems. CDS is included in the Energy
Production Systems business segment.
 
Net cash paid for the purchase of CDS was $43.9 million, which included acquisition-related costs of $0.4 million. The total acquisition cost of $49.7 million
reflected net cash paid plus long-term debt assumed of $6.9 million, less an adjustment of $1.1 million, reflecting the minority interest in cash and long-term
debt. The cash payment was funded through borrowings under the Company’s existing credit
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facilities. The Company accounted for the acquisition as a purchase and included the results of operations of the acquired business in its consolidated
financial statements from the effective date of the acquisition.
 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition of CDS:
 

(In millions)   

At August 20,
2003

Current assets, net of cash   $ 8.2
Property, plant and equipment    2.1
Goodwill    21.6
Intangible assets    33.0
Other assets    0.7
   

Total assets acquired    65.6
   
Current liabilities    9.7
Long-term debt    6.9
Deferred income taxes    5.1
   

Total liabilities    21.7
   

Net assets acquired   $ 43.9
   

 
The acquired intangible assets consisted of the following:
 

(In millions)   

Useful life
(in years)

  

At August 20,
2003

Customer lists   25  $ 13.6
Patents and acquired technology   20   16.6
Trademarks   25   1.3
Other   7.5   1.5
      

Acquired intangible assets      $ 33.0
      

 
The Company has not finalized the valuation of certain assets; therefore, the allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement.
 
All of the acquired intangible assets other than goodwill are subject to amortization, with a weighted-average useful life of approximately 22 years.
 
Goodwill, which has been allocated to the Energy Production Systems business segment, is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
 
Had the acquisition of CDS occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented, the Company’s earnings per share would not have been significantly
different than the amounts reported. Accordingly, pro forma financial information has not been provided.
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Note 4: Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 
On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142, which together with
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” provides guidance for the recognition, amortization and continuing valuation of goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired in a business combination. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company completed the goodwill impairment testing that is required upon
adoption of SFAS No. 142. As a result, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $193.8 million, net of an income tax benefit of $21.2 million,
as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle measured as of January 1, 2002.
 
Intangible assets
 
All of the Company’s acquired identified intangible assets are subject to amortization and, where applicable, foreign currency translation adjustments. The
Company recorded $0.9 million and $2.2 million in amortization expense related to intangible assets in the three-month and nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2003, respectively. The Company estimates that amortization of intangible assets will be approximately $3.9 million for the year ending
December 31, 2003. During the years 2004 through 2008, annual amortization expense, based on the carrying amount of intangible assets at September 30,
2003, is expected to be approximately $4.4 million. No impairment losses related to these identifiable intangible assets were required to be recognized as a
result of implementing SFAS No. 142.
 
The components of intangible assets were as follows:
 

(In millions)   

As of September 30,
2003

  

As of December 31,
2002

   

Gross
carrying
amount

  

Accumulated
amortization

  

Gross
carrying
amount

  

Accumulated
amortization

Customer lists   $ 31.1  $ 5.1  $ 17.1  $ 4.4
Patents and acquired technology    43.5   15.8   24.2   13.6
Trademarks    18.9   4.3   16.9   3.9
Other    1.5   —     —     —  
         

Total intangible assets   $ 95.0  $ 25.2  $ 58.2  $ 21.9
         
 
Goodwill
 
During 2002, the carrying amount of goodwill reflected the impairment loss recognized upon adoption of the new accounting standard. The reported pre-tax
impairment loss of $215.0 million ($193.8 million after tax) related to FoodTech ($117.4 million before tax; $98.3 million after tax) and Energy Processing
Systems ($97.6 million before tax; $95.5 million after tax). The impairment loss was reflected as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
 
The impairment loss was calculated at the reporting unit level and represents the excess of the carrying value of reporting unit goodwill over its implied fair
value. The implied fair value of goodwill was determined by a two-step process. The first step compared the fair value of the reporting unit (measured as the
present value of expected future cash flows) to its carrying amount. If the fair value of the reporting unit was less than its carrying amount, the fair value of the
reporting unit was allocated to its assets and liabilities to determine the implied fair value of goodwill, which was used to measure the impairment loss. In
conjunction with implementation of SFAS No. 142, all of the Company’s reporting units were tested for impairment during the first quarter of 2002.
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The carrying amount of goodwill by business segment was as follows:
 

(In millions)   

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

Energy Production Systems   $ 75.5  $ 47.8
Energy Processing Systems    17.3   17.3
     

Subtotal Energy Systems    92.8   65.1
FoodTech    14.7   14.2
Airport Systems    4.4   4.3
     

Total goodwill   $ 111.9  $ 83.6
     
 
At September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2002, the carrying amount of goodwill included the impact of foreign currency translation adjustments.
 
Note 5: Inventories
 
Inventories consisted of the following:
 

(In millions)   

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

 
Raw materials   $ 79.4  $ 77.0 
Work in progress    113.2   120.1 
Finished goods    228.1   193.6 
    

Gross inventories before LIFO reserves and valuation adjustments    420.7   390.7 
LIFO reserves and valuation adjustments    (126.5)   (117.6)
    

Net inventories   $ 294.2  $ 273.1 
    
 
Note 6: Termination of Sale-Leaseback Agreements
 
In March 2003, the Company elected to pay $35.9 million to repurchase equipment and terminate certain sale-leaseback agreements. The effect on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet was an increase in property, plant and equipment of $15.1 million and a reversal of the $20.8 million in non-
amortizing credits recognized in connection with the original transaction, which were included in other long-term liabilities. Termination of these sale-
leaseback obligations did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations.
 
Note 7: Derivative Financial Instruments
 
The Company had recognized the following amounts in the consolidated balance sheet representing the fair values of derivative instruments:
 

(In millions)   

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

Other current assets   $ 18.2  $ 35.4
Other assets   $ 3.5  $ 0.9
Other current liabilities   $ 4.2  $ 13.1
Other liabilities   $ 1.2  $ 3.0
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The net deferred hedging gain included in accumulated other comprehensive loss was $3.9 million at September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002.
Approximately $2.5 million of net gains are expected to be recognized in earnings during the twelve months ending September 30, 2004, at the time the
underlying hedged transactions are realized. Net gains of $1.4 million are expected to be recognized at various times through November 30, 2012.
 
Note 8: Commercial Paper
 
The Company initiated a commercial paper program in the first quarter of 2003 to provide an alternative vehicle for meeting short-term funding requirements.
Under this program and subject to available capacity under the Company’s revolving credit facilities, the Company has the ability to access up to $400
million of short-term financing through its commercial paper dealers.
 
At September 30, 2003, there was $199.9 million in total commercial paper outstanding. Committed credit available under the five-year revolving credit
facility at September 30, 2003, provides the ability to refinance a portion of the Company’s commercial paper obligations on a long-term basis; therefore,
$185.1 million of commercial paper outstanding was classified as long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheet.
 
In June 2003, the Company entered into interest rate swaps related to $150.0 million of its commercial paper borrowings. The effect of these interest rate
swaps is to fix the effective annual interest rate of these borrowings at an average rate of 2.9%. These interest rate swaps mature in June 2008. The swaps are
accounted for as cash flow hedges and their fair values are included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2003.
 
Note 9: Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 
Comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

(In millions)   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

     

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

     

2003

  

2002

 
Net income (loss)   $ 20.3  $ 16.8     $ 52.4  $ (154.2)
Foreign currency translation adjustment    (1.9)   (7.8)      12.0   9.9 
Cumulative effect of a change in functional currency    —     —        (12.8)   —   
Net deferral of hedging gains (losses), net of tax    2.6   (5.7)      —   4.1 
Adjustment to minimum pension liability, net of tax    0.1   —        (0.7)   —   
         
Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 21.1  $ 3.3     $ 50.9  $ (140.2)
         
 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

(In millions)   

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

 
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments   $ (112.9)  $ (112.1)
Cumulative deferral of hedging gains, net of tax    3.9   3.9 
Cumulative adjustments to minimum pension liability, net of tax    (38.1)   (37.4)
    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax   $ (147.1)  $ (145.6)
    
 
Note 10: Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)
 
Basic EPS is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to the potential
dilution of earnings which could have occurred if additional shares were issued for stock option exercises and restricted stock under the treasury stock
method. Options to purchase 2.8 million shares of common stock were outstanding during the three-month period ended September 30, 2002, but
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were not included in the computation of diluted EPS for that period because the options’ exercise price was greater than the average market price of the
common shares.
 
The following schedule is a reconciliation of the denominator of the diluted EPS computations:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

        

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

(In millions, except per share data)   

2003

  

2002

     

2003

  

2002

Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 20.3  $ 16.8     $ 52.4  $ 39.6
            
Basic weighted average shares outstanding    66.2   65.4      66.0   65.3
Effect of dilutive securities:                    

Options on common stock    0.7   0.6      0.6   0.7
Restricted common stock    0.2   0.8      0.2   0.8

            
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    67.1   66.8      66.8   66.8
            
Diluted EPS before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 0.30  $ 0.25     $ 0.79  $ 0.59
            
 
Note 11: Warranty Obligations
 
The Company provides for the estimated cost of warranties at the time revenue is recognized and when additional specific obligations are identified. The
balance sheet obligation is based on historical experience by product, and considers failure rates and the related costs incurred in correcting a product failure.
The Company believes its methodology provides a reasonable estimate of its liability. Warranty cost and accrual information is as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

        

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

(In millions)   

2003

  

2002

     

2003

  

2002

 
Balance at beginning of period   $ 12.0  $ 10.5     $ 11.9  $ 11.6 
Expenses for new warranties    3.7   5.6      12.3   10.6 
Adjustments to pre-existing warranties    (1.4)   (0.3)      (1.9)   (0.8)
Claims paid    (3.2)   (4.6)      (11.2)   (10.2)
         
Balance at end of period   $ 11.1  $ 11.2     $ 11.1  $ 11.2 
         
 
Note 12: Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
 
Commitments
 
Under the terms of the CDS acquisition discussed in Note 3, the Company committed to purchase the remaining 45 percent ownership interest in CDS in
2009 at a purchase price of approximately 6.5 times the average of CDS’ 2007 and 2008 earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization. The Company intends to account for the purchase of the remaining 45 percent ownership interest in CDS under the purchase accounting
method.
 
Contingent Liabilities
 
In the ordinary course of business with customers, vendors and others, the Company issues standby letters of credit, performance bonds, surety bonds and
other guarantees. These financial instruments, which totaled approximately $293 million at September 30, 2003, represented guarantees of the Company’s
future performance. The Company had also provided approximately $16 million of bank guarantees and letters of credit to secure existing financial
obligations of the Company. The majority of these financial instruments expire within two years, at which time the
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Company expects to replace them through the issuance of new or extension of existing letters of credit and surety bonds. At September 30, 2003, the
Company also had guarantees relating to third party financial obligations of approximately $4 million and had indemnification agreements in place
approximating $1 million.
 
The Company and FMC Corporation are named defendants in a number of multi-defendant, multi-plaintiff tort lawsuits. Under the Separation and
Distribution Agreement between FMC Corporation and FMC Technologies, which contains key provisions relating to the 2001 spin-off of the Company
from FMC Corporation, FMC Corporation is required to indemnify the Company for certain claims made prior to the spin-off of the Company from FMC
Corporation, as well as for other claims related to discontinued operations. The Company expects that FMC Corporation will bear responsibility for the
majority of these claims. Certain claims have been asserted subsequent to the spin-off; and while the ultimate responsibility for these claims cannot yet be
determined due to lack of identification of the products or premises involved, the Company also expects that FMC Corporation will bear responsibility for a
majority of these claims.
 
In February 2003, the Company initiated court action in the Judicial District Court in Harris County, Texas, against ABB Lummus Global, Inc., seeking
recovery of scheduled payments owed and compensatory, punitive and other damages.
 
In August 2002, the Company initiated court action in the United Kingdom to confirm that certain components of its subsea production systems’ designs do
not conflict with a patent issued to Cooper Cameron Corporation in Europe. In response, Cooper Cameron Corporation initiated court action alleging
infringement of certain of their U.K. patents.
 
The Company’s management believes that the ultimate resolution of its known contingencies will not materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
The Company is in the process of executing a petroleum loading system contract with Sonatrach through the Company’s Energy Production Systems
business segment. During the third quarter of 2003, Sonatrach asked the Company to evaluate a change in buoy locations. In October 2003, the Company
made an initial assessment of these scope changes on the project’s cost and schedule, and submitted change orders to Sonatrach. The Company is currently in
the process of negotiating these contract change orders and is hopeful that they will be approved in a satisfactory manner. However, management cannot
provide assurance that the change orders will be approved as submitted or that resolution can be made on terms agreeable to the Company. At this stage of
the negotiations, it is not possible to estimate the profit or loss that will ultimately be realized on this contract.
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Note 13: Business Segment Information
 

(In millions)   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

     

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

     

2003

  

2002

 
Revenue                     

Energy Production Systems   $ 271.2  $ 241.4     $ 826.8  $ 666.8 
Energy Processing Systems    106.1   98.6      304.1   285.9 
Intercompany eliminations    (1.7)   (0.1)      (2.0)   (1.4)

         
Subtotal Energy Systems    375.6   339.9      1,128.9   951.3 

FoodTech    127.2   120.4      387.8   364.7 
Airport Systems    58.7   66.3      158.1   179.4 
Intercompany eliminations    (1.4)   (1.2)      (5.1)   (4.1)

         
Total revenue   $ 560.1  $ 525.4     $1,669.7  $1,491.3 
         
Income before income taxes and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle                     

Energy Production Systems   $ 14.0  $ 12.6     $ 50.1  $ 34.2 
Energy Processing Systems    8.1   5.2      17.6   15.7 

         
Subtotal Energy Systems    22.1   17.8      67.7   49.9 

FoodTech    9.9   7.7      31.4   28.9 
Airport Systems    5.3   5.9      8.0   10.2 

         
Segment operating profit    37.3   31.4      107.1   89.0 
Corporate expense    (5.9)   (5.6)      (18.3)   (17.6)
Other income (expense), net    (0.6)   0.9      (8.0)   (5.9)

         
Operating profit before net interest expense and income taxes    30.8   26.7      80.8   65.5 

Net interest expense    (2.2)   (3.1)      (6.9)   (9.8)
         
Income before income taxes and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 28.6  $ 23.6     $ 73.9  $ 55.7 
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ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS—SAFE HARBOR PROVISIONS
 
Item 2 of this report contains certain forward-looking statements that are based on management’s current views and assumptions regarding future events,
future business conditions and management’s outlook for FMC Technologies, Inc. (“FMC Technologies” or the “Company”) based on currently available
information.
 
Whenever possible, we have identified forward-looking statements by such words or phrases as “will likely result”, “is confident that”, “expects”, “should”,
“could”, “may”, “will continue to”, “believes”, “anticipates”, “predicts”, “forecasts”, “estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “intends” or similar expressions
identifying “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including the negative of those words
or phrases. Such forward-looking statements are based on management’s current views and assumptions regarding future events, future business conditions
and the outlook for our Company based on currently available information. The forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these statements. These statements are qualified by reference to our
discussion of important factors that could affect our financial position and could cause our actual results for future periods to differ materially from any
opinions or statements expressed in, or implied by, these statements included in the section “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information” in
Part I, Item 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002. We wish to caution readers not to place undue
reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made and involve judgment.
 
We caution that the referenced list of factors may not be all-inclusive, and we specifically decline to undertake any obligation to publicly revise any forward-
looking statements that have been made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements, or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or
unanticipated events, unless required under applicable disclosure rules and regulations.
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
 
FMC Technologies, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on November 13, 2000, and was a wholly owned subsidiary of FMC Corporation until its initial public
offering on June 14, 2001, when it sold 17.0% of its common stock to the public. On December 31, 2001, FMC Corporation distributed its remaining 83.0%
ownership of FMC Technologies’ common stock to FMC Corporation shareholders in the form of a dividend (the “Distribution”). Each FMC Corporation
shareholder of record as of December 12, 2001, received a dividend of approximately 1.72 shares of FMC Technologies’ common stock for each share of
FMC Corporation common stock.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2003 Compared With
Three Months Ended September 30, 2002

 
The following table summarizes our operating results for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:
 

(In millions, except %)   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

     

Favorable/
(Unfavorable)

 

   

2003

  

2002

     

$

  

%

 
Revenue                    
Energy Production Systems   $ 271.2  $ 241.4     $29.8  12.3 %
Energy Processing Systems    106.1   98.6      7.5  7.6 
Intercompany eliminations    (1.7)   (0.1)      (1.6)  * 
           

Subtotal Energy Systems    375.6   339.9      35.7  10.5 
FoodTech    127.2   120.4      6.8  5.6 
Airport Systems    58.7   66.3      (7.6)  (11.5)
Intercompany eliminations    (1.4)   (1.2)      (0.2)  * 
           
Total revenue   $ 560.1  $ 525.4     $34.7  6.6 %
           
Segment Operating Profit                    
Energy Production Systems   $ 14.0  $ 12.6     $ 1.4  11.1 %
Energy Processing Systems    8.1   5.2      2.9  55.8 
           

Subtotal Energy Systems    22.1   17.8      4.3  24.2 
FoodTech    9.9   7.7      2.2  28.6 
Airport Systems    5.3   5.9      (0.6)  (10.2)
           
Total segment operating profit    37.3   31.4      5.9  18.8 
Corporate expense    (5.9)   (5.6)      (0.3)  (5.4)
Other income (expense), net    (0.6)   0.9      (1.5)  * 
           
Operating profit before net interest expense and income taxes    30.8   26.7      4.1  15.4 
Net interest expense    (2.2)   (3.1)      0.9  29.0 
           
Income before income taxes    28.6   23.6      5.0  21.2 
Provision for income taxes    8.3   6.8      (1.5)  (22.1)
           
Net income   $ 20.3  $ 16.8     $ 3.5  20.8 %
           
 
* Not meaningful
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Our total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2003, increased 6.6% to $560.1 million. Higher sales reported by our Energy Systems and
FoodTech businesses were partially offset by lower sales of Airport Systems.
 
Our pre-tax income for the three months ended September 30, 2003, of $28.6 million ($20.3 million after tax), compared favorably with pre-tax income for
the quarter ended September 30, 2002, of $23.6 million ($16.8 million after tax). The increase in 2003 pre-tax income was primarily attributable to higher
segment operating profit from our Energy Systems and FoodTech businesses, partially offset by lower profitability from Airport Systems and an increase in
other expense, net.
 
Management expects 2003 full-year earnings to be in the upper end of the range of $1.05 to $1.15 per diluted share, a 15 to 20 percent increase over full-year
2002 earnings per share before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
 
When developing our 2004 outlook, we identified more uncertainty and variability than in prior years. While there is a significant amount of variability in
our 2004 outlook, we currently anticipate some improvement in each of our business segments in 2004. Our outlook is qualified by consideration of various
risks and uncertainties identified in the discussion of our results of operations below and others which are detailed in the section “Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Information” in Part I, Item 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, all of which
could cause our actual results to vary significantly from our current outlook.
 
OPERATING RESULTS OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS
 
Segment operating profit is defined as total segment revenue less segment operating expenses. The following items have been excluded in computing
segment operating profit: corporate staff expense, interest expense and income associated with corporate debt facilities and investments, income taxes and
other income (expense), net.
 
Energy Production Systems
 
Energy Production Systems’ revenue was higher in the third quarter of 2003 when compared with the third quarter of 2002. Increased revenue related
primarily to subsea and surface systems. Higher revenue for subsea systems was primarily attributable to progress on projects in the Gulf of Mexico and the
North Sea, partially offset by a decrease in shipments to West Africa. Surface systems’ sales were stronger in Asia, the Middle East and Europe and, to a lesser
extent, in North America, reflecting the impact of increased land-based drilling activity in those regions.
 
Energy Production Systems’ operating profit in the third quarter of 2003 increased compared with the third quarter of 2002 as a result of higher volumes in
our surface and subsea businesses, partially offset by a loss recorded in our floating production systems business.
 
We are currently in the process of executing a petroleum loading system contract with Sonatrach. During the third quarter of 2003, Sonatrach asked us to
evaluate a change in buoy locations. In October 2003, we made an initial assessment of these scope changes on the project’s cost and schedule, and
submitted change orders to Sonatrach. We are currently in the process of negotiating these contract change orders and are hopeful that they will be approved
in a satisfactory manner. However, we cannot provide assurance that the change orders will be approved as submitted or that resolution can be made on terms
agreeable to us. At this stage of the negotiations, it is not possible to estimate the profit or loss that will ultimately be realized on this contract.
 
For full-year 2004, we expect slight growth in overall profitability for the Energy Production Systems business segment. We anticipate growth to come from
higher earnings in floating production systems and a full-year benefit of our 55% ownership interest in CDS Engineering and associated assets (“CDS”).
However, our ability to accurately project the subsea systems activity for 2004 has been limited by several factors, including a higher percentage of subsea
system projects being awarded based upon a bid process, modifications to project specifications during the bid process and delays by oil companies
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in the awarding of projects. In addition, the 2004 outlook for Energy Production Systems is subject to significant uncertainty related to the Sonatrach
contract. Our forecast assumes profit contribution from the Sonatrach contract at a break-even level.
 
Energy Processing Systems
 
Energy Processing Systems’ revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2003, was higher when compared with the same period in 2002. Increased
sales volume was primarily attributable to stronger demand for metering systems in the measurement solutions business. In addition, fluid control equipment
sales were higher when compared with 2002, as stronger sales of WECO®/Chiksan® equipment reflected stronger demand related to increased rig counts.
 
Energy Processing Systems’ operating profit in the third quarter of 2003 increased when compared with the third quarter of 2002. Improved profitability was
primarily the result of higher sales volumes and higher margins in the fluid control business and, to a lesser extent, increased sales volume in our loading
systems and measurement businesses.
 
For full-year 2004, we anticipate the Energy Processing Systems business to continue to reflect the positive impact of increased oilfield activity and higher
rig counts on sales of WECO®/Chiksan® equipment. In addition, we have potential for growth in the loading systems business, based on an increase in
demand for liquefied natural gas.
 
FoodTech
 
FoodTech’s revenue increased in the third quarter of 2003 compared with the third quarter of 2002. Higher revenue, reflecting increased volumes of protein,
tomato and citrus processing equipment and the favorable impact of foreign currency translation, was partially offset by lower revenue from sales of freezing
systems, primarily attributable to unfavorable economic conditions in Europe.
 
FoodTech’s operating profit in the third quarter of 2003 increased compared with the third quarter of 2002. Increased profit was attributable to higher
volumes and lower costs, the latter reflecting a favorable adjustment relating to a foreign sales tax. Lower profit from sales of freezing systems during the
quarter partially offset the increase in segment profitability.
 
FoodTech’s business is seasonal, resulting in higher activity in the second and fourth quarters of each year. Based on seasonal factors, we again anticipate a
strong fourth quarter for FoodTech in 2003. In 2004, we expect this business segment to perform at the same level or improve slightly compared with 2003,
with improved results coming from food processing and food sterilization equipment. However, improved results are likely to be offset by the negative
impact of competitive trends and continued consolidation in the food industry.
 
Airport Systems
 
Airport Systems’ revenue decreased in the third quarter of 2003 compared with the third quarter of 2002, reflecting lower sales of Halvorsen loaders to the
U.S. Air Force. The decrease in revenue was partially offset by higher sales of automated material handling systems and an increase in sales of airport ground
support equipment to customers outside of the United States.
 
Airport Systems’ operating profit in the third quarter of 2003 decreased compared with the third quarter of 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to
lower sales volumes of Halvorsen loaders, partially offset by the favorable impact of higher volumes of airport ground support equipment.
 
In 2004, we expect Airport Systems’ operating profit to improve slightly over 2003 results. We have begun to see a gradual strengthening in the international
airlines. In addition, the U.S. Air Force has received government approval of funding for the purchase of additional Halvorsen loaders. We await their order
for 2004 and anticipate that Halvorsen loader deliveries will be somewhat lower in 2004 compared with 2003.
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Order Backlog
 
Order backlog is calculated as the estimated sales value of unfilled, confirmed customer orders at the reporting date.
 

   

Order Backlog

(In millions)

  

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

  

September 30,
2002

Energy Production Systems   $ 663.8  $ 822.5  $ 651.6
Energy Processing Systems    124.2   110.0   111.3
       

Subtotal Energy Systems    788.0   932.5   762.9
FoodTech    120.6   107.2   106.2
Airport Systems    112.7   112.0   106.3
       

Total backlog   $ 1,021.3  $ 1,151.7  $ 975.4
       
 
Energy Production Systems’ order backlog at September 30, 2003, was lower when compared with December 31, 2002, primarily attributable to lower order
backlog for subsea systems, reflecting delays in the awarding of projects. Compared with September 30, 2002, higher order backlog at September 30, 2003,
was primarily the result of the Sonatrach order for floating production systems, partially offset by lower order backlog for subsea systems.
 
Energy Processing Systems’ order backlog at September 30, 2003, was higher when compared with December 31, 2002, reflecting increased order backlog for
loading systems and measurement solutions. Compared with September 30, 2002, order backlog at September 30, 2003, was higher, reflecting increased order
backlog for loading systems and fluid control equipment. The increases in order backlog were partially offset by a decrease in order backlog for blending and
transfer systems in both periods.
 
FoodTech’s order backlog at September 30, 2003, was higher when compared with December 31, 2002, primarily as a result of an increase in orders for
freezing systems and food sterilization equipment, partially offset by a lower order backlog for fruit and vegetable processing equipment. When compared
with September 30, 2002, higher order backlog at September 30, 2003, was primarily attributable to a higher level of order backlog for protein cooking
equipment, reflecting higher demand from the North American poultry market, and higher orders of food sterilization equipment, partly offset by a reduction
in order backlog for fruit and vegetable processing equipment. In addition, the increase in FoodTech’s order backlog at September 30, 2003, reflected the
favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates.
 
Airport Systems’ order backlog at September 30, 2003, was essentially flat when compared with December 31, 2002. Lower order backlog for Halvorsen
loaders was substantially offset by higher order backlog for airport ground support equipment, as a result of orders received from international airlines and
freight companies, and Jetway® passenger boarding bridges. When compared with September 30, 2002, higher backlog at September 30, 2003, was associated
with airport ground support equipment and Jetway® passenger boarding bridges. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in order backlog for
Halvorsen loaders. While the U.S. Air Force has received government approval of funding for the purchase of additional Halvorsen loaders, we are awaiting
receipt of the order for 2004; consequently, order backlog at September 30, 2003, does not include any amounts relating to Halvorsen loader activity in
2004.
 
OTHER COSTS AND EXPENSES
 
Corporate Expense
 
Corporate expense increased slightly during the quarter ended September 30, 2003, compared with the same quarter in 2002, primarily due to higher
insurance costs in 2003, partially offset by the favorable impact of cost reduction initiatives.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
 
Other income (expense), net, is comprised primarily of LIFO inventory adjustments, net expenses related to employee pension and other postretirement
benefits, foreign currency gains and losses and restricted stock compensation expense.
 
In the third quarter of 2003, other expense, net, was $0.6 million versus $0.9 million of other income, net, in the third quarter of 2002. The unfavorable
comparison to the prior year quarter was primarily attributable to a gain of $1.3 million recorded in the third quarter of 2002 in connection with the sale of
the Company plane, partially offset by the favorable impact of foreign currency related gains in 2003.
 
Net Interest Expense
 
Net interest expense decreased in the third quarter of 2003 compared to the third quarter of 2002 as a result of reduced interest rates.
 
We have entered into a series of interest rate swaps maturing in June 2008 that have fixed the interest rate on $150.0 million of our commercial paper
portfolio at 2.9%.
 
Income Tax Expense
 
Income tax expense for the third quarter of 2003 was $8.3 million on pre-tax earnings of $28.6 million. Income tax expense for the three months ended
September 30, 2002, was $6.8 million on pre-tax earnings of $23.6 million. The difference between our effective income tax rate of 29% during these periods
and the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate relates primarily to the difference between the U.S. tax rate and foreign tax rates applied to foreign earnings and
qualifying foreign trade income not subject to U.S. tax.
 
We estimate that our effective tax rate for full-year 2003 will be 29%.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003 Compared With
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002

 
The following table summarizes our operating results for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:
 

(In millions, except %)   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

     

Favorable/
(Unfavorable)

 

   

2003

  

2002

     

$

  

%

 
Revenue                    
Energy Production Systems   $ 826.8  $ 666.8     $160.0  24.0%
Energy Processing Systems    304.1   285.9      18.2  6.4 
Intercompany eliminations    (2.0)   (1.4)      (0.6)  * 
           

Subtotal Energy Systems    1,128.9   951.3      177.6  18.7 
FoodTech    387.8   364.7      23.1  6.3 
Airport Systems    158.1   179.4      (21.3)  (11.9)
Intercompany eliminations    (5.1)   (4.1)      (1.0)  * 
           

Total revenue   $1,669.7  $1,491.3     $178.4  12.0%
           

Segment Operating Profit                    
Energy Production Systems   $ 50.1  $ 34.2     $ 15.9  46.5%
Energy Processing Systems    17.6   15.7      1.9  12.1 
           

Subtotal Energy Systems    67.7   49.9      17.8  35.7 
FoodTech    31.4   28.9      2.5  8.7 
Airport Systems    8.0   10.2      (2.2)  (21.6)
           

Total segment operating profit    107.1   89.0      18.1  20.3 
Corporate expense    (18.3)   (17.6)      (0.7)  (4.0)
Other expense, net    (8.0)   (5.9)      (2.1)  (35.6)

Operating profit before net interest expense and income taxes    80.8   65.5      15.3  23.4 
Net interest expense    (6.9)   (9.8)      2.9  29.6 
           

Income before income taxes    73.9   55.7      18.2  32.7 
Provision for income taxes    21.5   16.1      (5.4)  (33.5)
           
Income before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    52.4   39.6      12.8  32.3 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes    —     (193.8)      193.8  * 
           

Net income (loss)   $ 52.4  $ (154.2)     $206.6  * 
           
 
* Not meaningful
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was $1.7 billion, an increase of 12% compared with the nine months ended September 30, 2002.
Higher sales attributable to our Energy Systems businesses and, to a lesser extent, FoodTech, were partially offset by lower sales of Airport Systems.
 
Income before income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 of $73.9 million ($52.4 million after tax) compared favorably with income before
income taxes and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 of $55.7 million ($39.6 million
after tax). The increase in income before income taxes in 2003 was primarily attributable to higher segment operating profit and lower net interest expense,
partially offset by higher other expense, net.
 
We recorded net income of $52.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. A net loss of $154.2 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2002 included the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $215.0 million ($193.8 million after tax) recorded in the first quarter of 2002.
On January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
which together with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” provides guidance for the recognition, amortization and continuing valuation of goodwill and
other intangible assets acquired in a business combination. We completed the goodwill impairment testing that is required upon adoption of SFAS No. 142
during the first quarter of 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002, resulted in a loss from the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle affecting the FoodTech business segment ($117.4 million before tax; $98.3 million after tax) and the Energy Processing Systems business segment
($97.6 million before tax; $95.5 million after tax). This loss was not the result of a change in the outlook of the businesses but was due to a change in the
method of measuring goodwill impairment as required by the adoption of SFAS No. 142. The impact of adopting the provisions of SFAS No. 142 relating to
goodwill amortization resulted in our discontinuing the amortization of goodwill beginning January 1, 2002.
 
OPERATING RESULTS OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS
 
Energy Production Systems
 
Energy Production Systems’ revenue and operating profit increased in the first nine months of 2003 compared with the same period in 2002. Higher revenue
was primarily attributable to subsea systems for projects in the major offshore oil and gas producing basins. To a lesser extent, higher sales also reflected an
increase in sales of surface systems and the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates. Increased profitability from higher sales volumes in our
subsea and surface businesses was partially offset by lower profitability in floating production systems.
 
Energy Processing Systems
 
Energy Processing Systems’ revenue and operating profit increased in the first nine months of 2003 compared with the same period in 2002. We recorded
higher revenue in 2003 in each of the businesses, with the most notable increases arising from the measurement solutions and fluid control businesses. Higher
operating profit in 2003 reflected improvement in the fluid control equipment business, partially offset by lower profitability for the blending and transfer
business and higher period costs associated with contract reserve adjustments.
 
FoodTech
 
FoodTech’s revenue and operating profit increased in the first nine months of 2003 compared with the same period in 2002. The increase in revenue reflected
the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates, higher sales of food processing equipment in Asia, Europe and Africa, and sales of protein
processing equipment in North America, partially offset by lower sales of freezing systems and the unfavorable impact of competitive pressure in the citrus
businesses. The increase in profitability was primarily attributable to higher sales volumes and lower costs.
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Airport Systems
 
Airport Systems’ revenue and operating profit decreased in the first nine months of 2003 compared with the same period in 2002, primarily a result of the
weakness in the commercial airline industry in the United States. Lower revenue from sales of Jetway® passenger boarding bridges and, to a lesser extent,
Halvorsen loaders, was partially offset by increased sales in the automated material handling systems business. Lower profitability reflected the impact of
decreased sales volumes, partially offset by the favorable impact of lower costs in the Jetway® and airport ground support businesses.
 
OTHER COSTS AND EXPENSES
 
Corporate Expense
 
Corporate expense increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2003, compared with the same period in 2002, resulting primarily from higher
insurance premiums in 2003.
 
Other Expense, Net
 
Other expense, net, increased in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2003, when compared with the same period in 2002. The increase in expense
was primarily due to higher pension expense in 2003 and a $1.3 million gain recorded in 2002 relating to the sale of the Company plane. Foreign currency
related gains and lower restricted stock expense partially offset the increase in 2003 other expense, net.
 
Net Interest Expense
 
After implementing a commercial paper program in first quarter 2003, we have realized appreciably lower interest costs on our outstanding debt. More than
two-thirds of our total debt obligation at September 30, 2002, was from our five-year credit facility and carried interest rates in excess of 5%. At September
30, 2003, a full three-fourths of our total debt obligation was in the form of commercial paper and carried interest rates below 3%. The establishment of our
commercial paper program has created a 30% reduction in interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, as compared to the prior year
period.
 
Income Tax Expense
 
Income tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, was $21.5 million on pre-tax income of $73.9 million. Income tax expense for the nine
months ended September 30, 2002, was $16.1 million on pre-tax income of $55.7 million. The difference between our effective income tax rate of 29%
during these periods and the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate related primarily to the difference between the U.S. tax rate and foreign tax rates applied to
foreign earnings and qualifying foreign trade income not subject to U.S. tax.
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Our net debt at September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2002, was $217.9 million and $202.5 million, respectively. Net debt includes short- and long-term
debt and the current portion of long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents. The increase in net debt is attributable to increased borrowings of $43.9
million used to acquire a 55% ownership interest in CDS, $35.9 million used to retire certain sale-leaseback obligations and $15.0 million used for
contributions to our U.S. pension plan. The increase in net debt attributable to these borrowings was largely offset by increased cash flow from operations.
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Cash flow during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:
 

(In millions)   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 
Cash provided by operating activities   $ 105.6  $ 67.8 
Cash required by discontinued operations    (4.9)   (4.4)
Cash required by investing activities    (118.7)   (45.2)
Cash provided (required) by financing activities    35.5   (7.5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    0.5   (0.1)
    

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   $ 18.0  $ 10.6 
    
 
Cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2003 increased when compared with the same period in 2002 by more than $37 million,
primarily resulting from higher net income after adjusting for non-cash components of income.
 
At September 30, 2003, operating working capital was $140.5 million, a decrease of $16.8 million when compared with operating working capital of $157.3
million at December 31, 2002. Operating working capital is calculated as current assets less current liabilities, adjusted to exclude cash and cash equivalents,
amounts due from FMC Corporation, short-term debt, the current portion of long-term debt and income tax balances. Our operating working capital balances
vary significantly depending on the payment terms and timing of delivery on key contracts. The decrease in operating working capital during the nine
months ended September 30, 2003, relates to a higher level of advance payments, particularly from our Energy Production Systems’ customers.
 
The increase in cash required by investing activities for the nine month period in 2003 compared with the nine month period in 2002 reflects the payment of
$43.9 million, net, for majority ownership interest in CDS. We will acquire the remaining ownership interest in CDS in 2009 at a purchase price of
approximately 6.5 times the average of CDS’ 2007 and 2008 earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. In addition, we
retired $35.9 million in sale-leaseback obligations, and replaced the obligation with lower cost balance sheet debt.
 
The following is a summary of our committed credit facilities at September 30, 2003, the amount of debt outstanding under the committed credit facilities,
the amount of unused capacity, and maturity dates:
 
(In millions)             

Description

  

Commitment
Amount

  

Debt Outstanding
Under Committed
Credit Facilities

  

Unused
Capacity

  

Maturity

Five-year revolving credit facility (A)   $ 250.0  $ 50.0  $185.1(B) April, 2006
364-day revolving credit facility    150.0   —     150.0  April, 2004
         
   $ 400.0  $ 50.0  $335.1(C)  

         
 
(A) The five-year revolving credit facility allows us to obtain a total of $100.0 million in standby letters of credit. Our available capacity is reduced by any

outstanding letters of credit associated with this facility.
 (B) At September 30, 2003, available capacity was reduced by $14.9 million of standby letters of credit associated with the five-year revolving credit

facility.
 (C) Outstanding commercial paper may not exceed the unused portion of the committed revolving credit facilities. Therefore, the outstanding balance of

commercial paper combined with the debt outstanding under committed credit facilities and the amount in standby letters of credit was limited to
$400.0 at September 30, 2003.
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In April 2003, we renewed our committed 364-day revolving credit facility to allow for borrowings of up to $150.0 million under similar terms.
 
Among other restrictions, the terms of the committed credit agreements include negative covenants related to liens, and financial covenants related to
consolidated tangible net worth, debt to earnings ratios and interest coverage ratios. We are in compliance with all debt covenants as of September 30, 2003.
During the third quarter of 2003, these borrowings carried an effective annual interest rate of 100 basis points above the one-month London Interbank Offered
Rate.
 
During the first quarter of 2003, we initiated our commercial paper program. Under this program, and subject to available capacity under our revolving credit
facilities, we have the ability to access up to $400 million of short-term financing through our commercial paper dealers. We paid down $100.0 million of
borrowings under our five-year revolving credit facility, and $35.0 million in short-term borrowings, primarily with proceeds from our borrowings under the
commercial paper program.
 
At September 30, 2003, there was $199.9 million in total commercial paper outstanding, of which $185.1 million was classified as long-term on the
consolidated balance sheet. Committed credit available under the five-year revolving credit facility provides the ability to refinance a portion of our
commercial paper obligations on a long-term basis.
 
We have an interest rate swap agreement maturing in June 2004 related to $50.0 million of the long-term borrowings that fixes the interest rate thereon at an
average rate of 5.37%. The interest rate swap is accounted for as a cash flow hedge and its fair value is included in other current liabilities and other liabilities
on the September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2002, consolidated balance sheets, respectively. We also have interest rate swaps related to $150.0 million of
our commercial paper borrowings. The effect of these interest rate swaps is to fix the effective annual interest rate of these borrowings at 2.9%. The swaps
mature in June 2008, are accounted for as cash flow hedges, and are included in other assets at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet at September 30,
2003.
 
Short-term debt was $33.2 million and $59.4 million at September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2002, respectively.
 
Our uncommitted credit facilities included three domestic money-market facilities and credit lines for many of our international subsidiaries. Borrowings
under uncommitted facilities totaled $1.7 million and $16.0 million at September 30, 2003, and December 31, 2002, respectively.
 
We also have an uncommitted credit agreement with MODEC International LLC (“MODEC LLC”), a 37.5%-owned joint venture, whereby MODEC LLC
loans its excess cash to us. Under terms of the credit agreement, the interest rate is based on the monthly weighted average interest rate we pay on our
domestic credit facilities and commercial paper, which was 1.3% at September 30, 2003, and 2.2% at December 31, 2002. At September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, borrowings from MODEC LLC amounted to $16.7 million and $23.4 million, respectively, and were included in short-term debt on our
consolidated balance sheets.
 
MODEC, Inc., an affiliate of our joint venture partner in MODEC LLC, completed an initial public offering of approximately 11% of its common stock on the
Tokyo Stock Exchange in July 2003. Beginning in May 2004, we will have an annual right during the 120 day period following the issuance of the annual
report of MODEC, Inc. to convert all or a portion of our joint venture interest in MODEC LLC into shares of common stock of MODEC, Inc. or, at MODEC,
Inc.’s option, a combination of cash and common stock with equivalent value. The conversion right expires on December 31, 2020. The number of shares of
MODEC, Inc. obtainable upon any such conversion is determined pursuant to a formula based on the relative income of MODEC, Inc. and MODEC LLC,
respectively, for the two fiscal years preceding such conversion. We have no current plans to convert our joint venture interest in MODEC LLC and there can
be no assurance as to the timing or terms of any such conversion. However, if the conversion rights were currently exercised in full, we believe that it would
result in our receipt of common stock and/or cash totaling approximately 13% of the equity market value of MODEC, Inc. The percentage interest in
MODEC, Inc. available to us at the time of any such exercise, and the value of that interest, may vary significantly from that estimate.
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Our accumulated other comprehensive loss increased from $145.6 million at December 31, 2002, to $147.1 million at September 30, 2003. Foreign currency
translation adjustments included in accumulated other comprehensive loss during 2003 reflected the impact of a strengthening U.S. dollar against the
Norwegian krone, offset somewhat by the impact of a weaker U.S. dollar against the euro and the Brazilian real. During the second quarter of 2003, we
implemented a functional currency change at one of our foreign subsidiaries resulting in a $12.8 million increase in other comprehensive loss, primarily
reflecting a reduction in net property, plant and equipment.
 
Pursuant to terms of the Tax Sharing Agreement we have with FMC Corporation, certain actions related to the sale of assets or the sale or issuance of
additional securities (including securities convertible into stock) are potentially restricted for a period of 30 months following the Distribution (i.e., through
June 30, 2004). In general, such actions are not restricted if we obtain (a) a supplemental ruling from the IRS that such actions do not cause the Distribution to
be taxable, or (b) an acceptable letter of credit sufficient in amount to cover any potential tax, interest and penalties that result from a determination that such
actions cause the Distribution to be taxable. The IRS has announced certain changes to its private ruling policy, which we believe effectively eliminate our
ability to obtain a supplemental IRS ruling. We do not expect restrictions under the Tax Sharing Agreement to significantly limit our ability to engage in
strategic transactions.
 
We expect to meet our operating needs, fund capital expenditures, pension plan contributions and potential acquisitions and meet debt service requirements
through cash generated from operations and the credit facilities discussed above. We forecast approximately $60 million in capital spending for 2003,
excluding the $15.1 million in capital expenditures related to the first quarter 2003 repurchase of equipment as a result of the termination of certain sale-
leaseback obligations. We continue to evaluate potential acquisitions, divestitures and joint ventures in the ordinary course of business.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
 
Refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, for a discussion of our critical accounting estimates. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2003, there were no material changes in our judgments and assumptions associated with the development of our critical accounting
estimates.
 
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
 
In April 2003, SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement No. 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” was issued. SFAS No. 149 amends and
clarifies accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and accounting for hedging activities
under SFAS No. 133. The amendments set forth in SFAS No. 149 require that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly. SFAS No.
149 was generally effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. The
guidance was to be applied prospectively. SFAS No. 149 did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.
 
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” This Interpretation addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities as defined in the
Interpretation. The Interpretation was effective immediately for variable interests in variable interest entities created or obtained after January 31, 2003. As
amended by FASB Staff Position No. FIN 46-6, Interpretation No. 46 is effective for public enterprises, such as FMC Technologies, with a variable interest in
a variable interest entity created before February 1, 2003, at the end of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December 15, 2003. In
connection with the retirement of our sale-leaseback obligations, we terminated our variable interest in a variable interest entity during the first quarter of
2003. Consequently, this Interpretation is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 
In December 2002, SFAS No. 148 was issued amending SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” The Statement amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim period financial statements about the method of accounting for
stock-based compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We have chosen to continue to account for
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common stock options using the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and related Interpretations. We have adopted the SFAS No. 148 disclosure provisions. Implementation of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material
impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 
In November 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached consensus regarding when a revenue arrangement with multiple deliverables
should be divided into separate units of accounting, and, if so, how consideration should be allocated. The new guidance, EITF Abstract No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” applies to revenue arrangements entered into after June 15, 2003. While the
conclusions in this consensus will not have an impact on the total amount of revenue recorded under an arrangement, they may have some impact on the
timing of that revenue recognition. Implementation of the provisions of this consensus did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.
 
ITEM 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
There have been no material changes in reported market risks from the information reported in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002.
 
ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.
 
The Company’s principal executive officer and its principal financial officer, after management’s evaluation, with the participation of such officers, of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period
covered by this report, have concluded that, based on such evaluation, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
 
Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
 
There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter covered by this report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT
 
The Board of Directors
FMC Technologies, Inc.:
 
We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) as of September 30, 2003, the related
consolidated statements of income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements
of cash flows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management.
 
We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of an
opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
 
Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated financial statements referred to above for them
to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the consolidated balance sheet of
FMC Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for the
year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated January 27, 2003, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements. Our report contains an explanatory paragraph that describes the Company’s adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 as
of January 1, 2002. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.
 
/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Chicago, Illinois
October 27, 2003
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
The Company and FMC Corporation are named defendants in a number of multi-defendant, multi-plaintiff tort lawsuits. Under the Separation and
Distribution Agreement between FMC Corporation and FMC Technologies, which contains key provisions relating to the 2001 spin-off of the Company
from FMC Corporation, FMC Corporation is required to indemnify the Company for certain claims made prior to the spin-off of the Company from FMC
Corporation, as well as for other claims related to discontinued operations. The Company expects that FMC Corporation will bear responsibility for the
majority of these claims. Certain claims have been asserted subsequent to the spin-off; and while the ultimate responsibility for these claims cannot yet be
determined due to the lack of identification of the products or premises involved, the Company also expects that FMC Corporation will bear responsibility
for a majority of these claims.
 
In February 2003, the Company initiated court action in the Judicial District Court in Harris County, Texas, against ABB Lummus Global, Inc., seeking
recovery of scheduled payments owed and compensatory, punitive and other damages.
 
In August 2002, the Company initiated court action in the United Kingdom to confirm that certain components of its subsea production systems’ designs do
not conflict with a patent issued to Cooper Cameron Corporation in Europe. In response, Cooper Cameron Corporation initiated court action alleging
infringement of certain of their U.K. patents.
 
Management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
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ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
 
(a) Exhibits
 

Number in
Exhibit Table

  

Description

10.4.a   First Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan.

10.4.b   Second Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan.

10.8.e   Third Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan.

15         Letter re: unaudited interim financial information.

31.1     Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2     Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1   
  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

32.2   
  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

 
(b) Reports on Form 8-K
 

Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 24, 2003, furnishing a press release announcing the Company’s financial results for the fiscal quarter ended
June 30, 2003.

 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 25, 2003, furnishing a press release announcing the acquisition of a controlling interest in CDS Engineering
and associated assets.

 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 4, 2003, containing information presented at the Lehman Brothers CEO Energy/Power conference.

 
30



SIGNATURE
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

/S/    RONALD D. MAMBU        

Ronald D. Mambu
Vice President, Controller, and duly authorized officer

 
Date: November 12, 2003
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Number in
Exhibit Table

 

Description

10.4.a  First Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan.

10.4.b  Second Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan.

10.8.e  Third Amendment of the FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan.

15       Letter re: unaudited interim financial information.

31.1    Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2    Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1   
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2   
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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Exhibit 10.4.a
 

FIRST AMENDMENT
OF THE

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION AND STOCK PLAN

 
WHEREAS, FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan (the “Plan”);

and
 

WHEREAS, the Company now deems necessary and desirable to amend the Plan to clarify participants rights with respect to Restricted Stock;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the authority reserved to the Company by Section 17 of the Plan, the Plan is hereby amended effective as of June
14, 2001, as follows:
 

The text of Section 11.2 Participant Rights is hereby amended to read as follow:
 

“Subject to the terms of the Plan and the Notice or certificate of Restricted Stock, the participant will not be permitted to vote, sell, assign, transfer,
pledge or otherwise encumber shares of Restricted Stock until the later of the Vesting Date and the date any applicable Performance Goals are satisfied.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a participant may pledge Restricted Stock as security for a loan to obtain funds to pay the option price for Stock Options.
Except as provided in the Plan and the Notice or certificate of the Restricted Stock, the participant will have, with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock,
Dividend Equivalent Rights, if so granted.”
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Exhibit 10.4.b
 

SECOND AMENDMENT
OF THE

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION AND STOCK PLAN

 
WHEREAS, FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan (the “Plan”);

and
 

WHEREAS, the Company now deems necessary and desirable to amend the Plan to limit the term of the Plan to comply with the changes in the rules
of the New York Stock Exchange;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the authority reserved to the Company by Section 17 of the Plan, the Plan is hereby amended effective as of
October 1, 2003, as follows:
 

The following is added to the end of Section 17. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
 

“No award of performance units may be granted to Non-Employee Directors under Section 14.1 of this Plan after February 16, 2011 or, if later, the date
that is ten years from the date a majority of the stockholders of the Company approve the most recent version of the Plan.”
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Exhibit 10.8.e
 

Third Amendment
Of

FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan
 

WHEREAS, FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan (the “Plan”); and
 

WHEREAS, the Company now deems it necessary and desirable to amend the Plan to clarify the nondiscrimination testing language as a part of the
process of seeking a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service on the qualified status of the Plan, to modify the Company match and
to comply with final and temporary regulations regarding minimum distribution requirements; and
 

WHEREAS, this Third Amendment shall supersede the provisions of the Plan to the extent those provisions are inconsistent with the provisions of this
Third Amendment;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the authority reserved to the Company by Section 12.1 of the Plan, the Plan is hereby amended effective as of
September 28, 2001 except as otherwise specified, in the following manner:
 

1. Effective as of January 1, 2004, Section 3.4 Company Contributions is deleted and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:
 
 “3.4 Company Contributions.
 

3.4.1 For each contribution period as defined in Section 3.4.2, the Company will make a Company Contribution to the Company Contribution
Account of each Matched Participant equal to 100% of all Basic Contributions made by the Matched Participant for that contribution period, less any
Forfeitures credited against the Company Contribution for that contribution period. No Company Contribution will be made with respect to
Supplemental Contributions or Catch-Up Contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company reserves the right to reduce or eliminate the
Company Contribution for prospective contribution periods.

 
3.4.2 The Company Contribution for each contribution period will be paid to the Funding Agent as soon as practicable. The Company

Contribution will be allocated to
 



each Matched Participant who made Basic Contributions during that contribution period, by multiplying the Matched Participant’s own Basic
Contributions for the contribution period by the Company Contribution percentage as described in Section 3.4.1 for the contribution period. In is
currently anticipated that all Company Contributions will be invested in the Company Stock Fund, but the Company reserves the right to change the
investment of Company Contributions prospectively. Each calendar week will be a contribution period. Subject to the special provisions of Section
3.13, all Company Contributions for a Plan Year will be allocated to Matched Participants’ Company Contribution Accounts no later than the due date
(including all extensions) of the Company’s federal tax return for the fiscal year of the Company ending with or within the Plan Year.”

 
2. Section 3.9.7 is deleted and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:

 
“3.9.7 Excess Aggregate Contributions means, for any Plan Year in which the Actual Contribution Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of the Plan is
not satisfied, the excess of the Company and After-Tax Contributions (and any Pre-Tax Contributions or pre-tax salary deferrals under other plans,
taken into account in determining the Actual Contribution Percentages) actually made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year,
over the maximum amount of such contributions permitted under Section 3.13 of the Plan for the Plan Year. The amount of Excess Aggregate
Contributions will be determined by first reducing the Company and After-Tax Contributions to the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest
Actual Contribution Percentage by the lesser of (a) the amount necessary for the Actual Contribution Percentage of that Highly Compensated
Employee to equal the Actual Contribution Percentage of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest Actual Contribution Percentage;
and (b) the amount necessary for the Plan to satisfy the Actual Contribution Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of the Plan. This process will be
repeated until the Plan satisfies the Actual Contribution Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of the Plan. Then, the aggregate amount of such reductions
will be distributed by reducing the Company and After-Tax contributions for the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest combined dollar
amount of Company and After-Tax Contributions by the lesser of (a) the amount necessary for the dollar amount of that Highly Compensated
Employee’s combined Company and After-Tax Contributions to equal the combined dollar amount of the Company and After-Tax Contributions of
the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest combined dollar amount of Company and After-Tax Contributions; and (b) the amount
necessary for the Plan to satisfy the Actual Contribution Percentage Test. For each Highly Compensated Employee’s reductions, the Administrator will
begin by making reductions in his or her Company Contributions, and will reduce the Highly Compensated Employee’s After-Tax Contributions only
if his or her Company contributions for the Plan Year have been reduced to zero and it is still necessary to reduce his or her Plan Year contributions.
The amount of any Highly Compensated Employee’s Excess Aggregate Contributions is calculated after determining the Excess Contribution to be
recharacterized as After-Tax Contributions for the Plan Year. To the extent required, if the Aggregate Limit in Section 3.9.3 of the Plan is exceeded,
further reduction of the Actual Deferral Percentage for all
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Highly Compensated Employees will be made in a similar manner so that the Aggregate Limit is not exceeded.”
 

3. Section 3.9.8 is deleted and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:
 

“3.9.8 Excess Contributions means, for any Plan Year in which the Actual Deferral Percentage Test under Section 3.12 of the Plan is not satisfied, the
excess of the Pre-Tax Contributions (and any Company Contributions taken into account in determining the Actual Deferral Percentages) actually
made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year, over the maximum amount of such contributions permitted under Section 3.12 of
the Plan for the Plan Year. The amount of Excess Contributions will be determined by first reducing the Pre-Tax Contributions of the Highly
Compensated Employee with the highest Actual Deferral Percentage by the lesser of (a) the amount necessary for the Actual Deferral Percentage of that
Highly Compensated Employee to equal the Actual Deferral Percentage of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest Actual Deferral
Percentage; and (b) the amount necessary for the Plan to satisfy the Actual Deferral Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of the Plan. This process will be
repeated until the Plan satisfies the Actual Deferral Percentage Test under Section 3.12 of the Plan. Then, the aggregate amount of such reductions will
be distributed by reducing the Pre-Tax Contributions for the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest dollar amount of Pre-Tax Contributions
by the lesser of (a) the amount necessary for the dollar amount of that Highly Compensated Employee’s Pre-Tax Contributions to equal the Pre-Tax
Contributions of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest dollar amount of Pre-Tax Contributions; and (b) the amount necessary for
the Plan to satisfy the Actual Deferral Percentage Test.”

 
4. Effective as of January 1, 2003, Section 5.2.4, 5.2.5 and 5.2.6 are deleted and the following is inserted in lieu thereof as Article 5-A of the Plan:

 
“ARTICLE 5-A

Required Minimum Distributions
For Calendar Years Beginning On Or After January 1, 2003

 
Section 5-A.1. General Rules.

 
5-A.1.1. Effective Date. The provisions of this Article 5-A will apply for purposes of determining required minimum distributions for calendar years
beginning with the 2003 calendar year, as well as required minimum distributions for the 2002 calendar year that are made on or after January 1, 2002.

 
5-A.1.2. Coordination With Minimum Distribution Requirements Previously in Effect. Required minimum distributions for 2002 under this Article 5-A
will be determined as follows. If the total amount of 2002 required minimum distributions under the Plan made to the distributee prior to the effective
date of this Article 5-A, equals or exceeds the required minimum distributions determined under this Article 5-A, then no additional distributions will
be required to be made for 2002 on or after such date to the distributee.
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If the total amount of 2002 required minimum distributions under the Plan made to the distributee prior to the effective date of this Article 5-A is less
than the amount determined under this Article 5-A, then required minimum distributions for 2002 on and after such date will be determined so that the
total amount of required minimum distributions for 2002 made to the distributee will be the amount determined under this Article 5-A.

 
5-A.1.3. Precedence. The requirements of this Article 5-A will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of the Plan.

 
5-A.1.4. Requirements of Treasury Regulations Incorporated. All distributions required under this Article 5-A will be determined and made in
accordance with the Treasury regulations under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code.

 
5-A.1.5. TEFRA Section 242(b)(2) Elections. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article 5-A, other than Section 5-A.1.4, distributions may be
made under a designation made before January 1, 1984, in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act
(“TEFRA”) and the provisions of the Plan that relate to Section 242(b)(2) of TEFRA.

 
Section 5-A.2. Time and Manner of Distribution.

 
5-A.2.1. Required Beginning Date. The Participant’s entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant no later than the
Participant’s required beginning date.

 
5-A.2.2. Death of Participant Before Distributions Begin. If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant’s entire interest will be
distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:

 
(a) If the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, then distributions to the Surviving Spouse will begin by
December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar year in
which the Participant would have attained age 70-1/2 , if later.

 
(b) If the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, then distributions to the designated Beneficiary will begin
by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died.

 
(c) If there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant’s death, the Participant’s entire interest will
be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.
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(d) If the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary and the Surviving Spouse dies after the Participant but before
distributions to the Surviving Spouse begin, this Section 5-A.2.2, other than section 5-A.2.2(a), will apply as if the Surviving Spouse were the
Participant.

 
For purposes of this Section 5-A.2.2 and Section 5-A.4, unless Section 5-A.2.2(d) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant’s
Required Beginning Date. If Section 5-A.2.2(d) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the
Surviving Spouse under Section 5-A.2.2(a). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the
Participant before the Participant’s Required Beginning Date (or to the Participant’s Surviving Spouse before the date distributions are required to
begin to the Surviving Spouse under Section 5-A.2.2(a)), the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.

 
5-A.2.3. Forms of Distribution. Unless the Participant’s interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company or in a
single sum on or before the Required Beginning Date, as of the first distribution calendar year distributions will be made in accordance with Sections
5-A.3 and 5-A.4. If the Participant’s interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder will
be made in accordance with the requirements of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and the Treasury regulations.

 
Section 5-A.3. Required Minimum Distributions During Participant’s Lifetime.

 
5-A.3.1. Amount of Required Minimum Distribution For Each Distribution Calendar Year. During the Participant’s lifetime, the minimum amount that
will be distributed for each distribution calendar year is the lesser of:

 
(a) the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime Table set forth in Section
1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations using the Participant’s age as of the Participant’s birthday in the distribution calendar year; or

 
(b) if the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary for the distribution calendar year is the Participant’s spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing the
Participant’s account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations, using
the Participant’s and spouse’s attained ages as of the Participant’s and spouse’s birthdays in the distribution calendar year.

 
5-A.3.2. Lifetime Required Minimum Distributions Continue Through Year of Participant’s Death. Required minimum distributions will be determined
under this Section 5-A.3 beginning with the first distribution calendar year and up to and including the distribution calendar year that includes the
Participant’s date of death.
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Section 5-A.4. Required Minimum Distributions After Participant’s Death.
 

5-A.4.1. Death On or After Date Distributions Begin.
 

(a) Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a designated Beneficiary,
the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by
dividing the Participant’s account balance by the longer of the remaining life expectancy of the Participant or the remaining life expectancy of the
Participant’s designated Beneficiary, determined as follows:

 
(1) The Participant’s remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each

subsequent year.
 

(2) If the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, the remaining life expectancy of the Surviving Spouse
is calculated for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death using the surviving spouse’s age as of the spouse’s birthday in
that year. For distribution calendar years after the year of the Surviving Spouse’s death, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is
calculated using the age of the Surviving Spouse as of the spouse’s birthday in the calendar year of the spouse’s death, reduced by one for each
subsequent calendar year.

 
(3) If the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, the designated Beneficiary’s remaining life

expectancy is calculated using the age of the Beneficiary in the year following the year of the Participant’s death, reduced by one for each subsequent
year.

 
(b) No Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30
of the year after the year of the Participant’s death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the
Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the Participant’s remaining life expectancy calculated
using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.

 
5-A.4.2. Death Before Date Distributions Begin.

 
(a) Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is a designated Beneficiary, the
minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by
dividing the Participant’s account balance by the remaining life expectancy of the Participant’s designated Beneficiary, determined as provided in
Section 5-A.4.1.
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(b) No Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of
the year following the year of the Participant’s death, distribution of the Participant’s entire interest will be completed by December 31 of the calendar
year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.

 
(c) Death of Surviving Spouse Before Distributions to Surviving Spouse Are Required to Begin. If the Participant dies before the date distribution
begin, the Participant’s Surviving Spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, and the Surviving Spouse dies before distributions are
required to begin to the Surviving Spouse under Section 5-A.2.2(a), this Section 5-A.4.2 will apply as if the Surviving Spouse were the Participant.

 
5-A.5. Definitions.

 
5-A.5.1. Designated Beneficiary. The individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under the Plan and is the designated Beneficiary under Section
401(a)(9) of the Code and Section 1.401(a)(9)-1, Q&A-4, of the Treasury regulations.

 
5-A.5.2. Distribution Calendar Year. A calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the Participant’s
death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Participant’s Required
Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Participant’s death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year in which distributions
are required to begin under Section 5-A.2.2. The required minimum distribution for the Participant’s first distribution calendar year will be made on or
before the Participant’s Required Beginning Date. The required minimum distribution for other distribution calendar years, including the required
minimum distribution for the distribution calendar year in which the Participant’s Required Beginning Date occurs, will be made on or before
December 31 of that distribution calendar year.

 
5-A.5.3. Life Expectancy. Life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations.

 
5-A.5.4. Participant’s Account Balance. The account balance as of the last valuation date in the calendar year immediately preceding the distribution
calendar year (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and allocated or forfeitures allocated to the account balance
as of the dates in the valuation calendar year after the valuation date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation calendar year after the
valuation date. The account balance for the valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the Plan either in the valuation
calendar year or in the distribution calendar year if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.

 
5-A.5.5. Required Beginning Date. The date specified in Section 5.2.3 of the Plan.”
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5. Effective October 10, 2003, Section 10.3.3 is hereby deleted in its entirety.
 

6. Except as set forth in this Third Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned officer has executed the foregoing amendment on behalf of the Company, this 10th day of October, 2003.
 

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:  /s/    Michael W. Murray        
 
Its:  Vice President – Human Resources
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Exhibit 15
 

FMC Technologies, Inc.
Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for

September 30, 2003
 
Letter re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information
 
FMC Technologies, Inc.
Chicago, Illinois
 
Re: Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-62996, 333-76210, 333-76214 and 333-76216).
 
With respect to the subject registration statements, we acknowledge our awareness of the incorporation by reference therein of our report dated October 27,
2003 related to our review of interim financial information.
 
Pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Act”), such report is not considered part of a registration statement prepared or certified by an
accountant, or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Act.
 
Very truly yours,
 
/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Chicago, Illinois
November 12, 2003
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
 
I, Joseph H. Netherland, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of FMC Technologies, Inc., certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FMC Technologies, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 12, 2003
 

/s/    JOSEPH H. NETHERLAND        

Joseph H. Netherland
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
 
I, William H. Schumann, III, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of FMC Technologies, Inc., certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FMC Technologies, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 12, 2003
 

/s/    WILLIAM H. SCHUMANN, III        

William H. Schumann, III
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal

Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification
of

Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350

as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Joseph H. Netherland, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 
(a) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(b) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: November 12, 2003     

     /s/    JOSEPH H. NETHERLAND        

   
 

 

 

 

Joseph H. Netherland
Chairman, President and Chief

Executive Officer
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form with the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FMC Technologies, Inc., and
will be retained by FMC Technologies, Inc., and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification
of

Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350

as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, William H. Schumann, III, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 
(a) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(b) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: November 12, 2003
 

/s/    WILLIAM H. SCHUMANN, III        

William H. Schumann, III
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer and Treasurer
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form with the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FMC Technologies, Inc., and
will be retained by FMC Technologies, Inc., and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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